Funding Landscape for Preschool with a Highly Qualified Workforce

W. STEVEN BARNETT & RICHARD KASMIN NIEER, GRADUATE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION, RUTGERS UNIVERSITY 12/5/2016

This paper was commissioned for the *Funding Landscape for Preschool with a Highly Qualified Workforce: An Expert Meeting.* This expert meeting convened by the Board on Children, Youth, and Families on December 12, 2016 in Washington, DC with the support from the U.S. Department of Education. Opinions and statements included in the paper are solely those of the individual authors, and are not necessarily adopted, endorsed, or verified as accurate by the Board on Children, Youth, and Families or the National Academy of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	2
II. Background on Pre-K and K-12 Funding in the US	2
III. Pre-K Funding for State Programs – the Current Landscape	3
IV. The K-12 Funding Formula as an Alternative Approach to Funding Pre-K PulloutWhat is a K-12 Public School Funding Formula? How does it work?	5 .6
VI. Measures of Adequacy, Equity, and Effort in State Pre-K	9
VII. Does Using the K-12 School Funding Formula Affect Funding Growth?1	1
VIII. Exemplars of the Use of Formulas to Fund Pre-K1	1
IX. Impact of the School Funding Formula on Pre-K Teacher Compensation1	3
X. Potential impacts of the K-12 School Funding Formula on Pre-K Funding1	4
XI. Summary1	5
XII. Tables and Charts1	7
References	3

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

I. Introduction

The purpose of this paper is to consider the potential implications of funding state pre-K programs through some version of the school funding formulas used in K-12 with particular attention to how this might facilitate more adequate compensation for a highly qualified workforce. State pre-K often receives less funding per child, even prorated for length of day, than does K-12 though it is difficult to assess this precisely because of a lack of good information about all funding sources for state pre-K (Barnett, Friedman-Krauss, Gomez, Horowitz, Weisenfeld, & Squires, 2016). This funding constraint is likely one reason that 20 states do not require all state pre-K teachers to have a four-year-college degree and 8 do not require specialized training in early childhood as called for by a recent report from the Institute of Medicine and National Research Council (Barnett, et al., 2016; Allen & Kelly, 2015). State pre-K teacher salaries tend to be substantially less than those of their elementary school counterparts where data are available for comparison (Barnett et al., 2016).

The main finding of our report is that use of the school funding formula is associated with greater adequacy and stability in funding, which argues for its wider use in pre-K financing. Higher adequacy in general is likely to translate into higher teacher salaries as most states have policies setting reasonable limits on class size and ratio and the workforce accounts for most of the cost (Barnett et al., 2016). We also have compiled a list of 10 state pre-K programs that already are funded as part of the state K-12 funding system, and these programs tend to have higher levels of adequacy and effort than do other programs. However, it is also the case that state school funding formulas used to calculate funding for their respective public K-12 systems vary meaningfully, resulting in a wide distribution of results regarding adequacy, equity, and effort in funding. These factors must be kept in mind when advocating for using school financing formulas to fund pre-K.

In this paper, we begin with background descriptions of the pre-K and K-12 funding landscapes, providing ways to compare and contrast their delivery. We then present data on measures of adequacy, equity, and effort in state K-12 funding systems in order to provide a backdrop on how utilization of school funding formulas would impact pre-K. Then we give an overview of state pre-K programs, with a focus on adequacy of current funding mechanisms. We next focus on some exemplars – states that are using school funding formulas for pre-K and what that means in terms of adequacy and effort. Lastly, we apply estimates of K-12 spending per pupil to pre-k in order to answer the questions of what funding changed would result if each state applied its own K-12 formula to state pre-K.

II. Background on Pre-K and K-12 Funding in the US

Preschool education is provided by a complex patchwork of public and private organizations funded by fee-paying parents and all three levels (federal, state, local) of government. Within this preschool patchwork, the private sector and the federal government play much larger roles in provision and funding than is the case for K-12 education. Somewhat more than half of three –and four-year olds attend a preschool program, and 59 percent of those attend a public program (U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 2015). Within this age group, overall participation rates and access to public programs are substantially higher at age four than age three (Barnett et al, 2016). Public programs include the federally funded Head Start program, state-funded pre-K, preschool special education, and local public school programs that are not part of a state-funded pre-K program. Head Start is somewhat unusual in being a

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

direct federal to local program that bypasses state government. Public funds also support participation in private programs through child care subsidies that are expenditure based (e.g., Child Care and Development Funds, Child and Adult Care Food Program) and tax based (e.g., tax credits and deductions including the federal Child and Dependent Care Tax Credit Tax Credit). By our estimates (see Table 1) just over half of the \$23.9 billion in public funds for early care and education come from the federal government, with most of the rest coming from states, and as little as 13 percent from local government. The estimated local percentage is the most uncertain of all these figures as local school spending is not systematically reported by grade level, and most state pre-K programs do not require a local financial contribution. The biggest unknown in our estimates is how much is spent on preschool special education, as this could be much higher than we have estimated here, and we do not know how much is paid by local school districts for preschool special education. In addition to the unknown costs of preschool special education, the local contribution to preschool programs more generally is largely unreported to states and difficult to estimate. Local public school support for preschool education includes not only funding for children served entirely at local discretion and not reported as part of state pre-K, but also the value of administration and support services and facilities that serve children in state funded pre-K, which are not reported as part of pre-K funding.

Government roles in operating and funding K-12 differ dramatically from the preschool patchwork, as public schools enroll 90 percent of students at the K-12 level. The public schools receive less than 10 percent of their funding from the federal government. State and local governments contribute about 45 percent each. Local revenue comes overwhelmingly from property taxes (80%). State funding primarily comes from general revenue consisting of individual and corporate income taxes, sales taxes, fees, property taxes, and other sources. Sources of state revenue vary substantially by state. An exploration of how pre-K reliance on a school funding formula might alter the revenue sources for pre-K beyond expanding access to local revenue is beyond the scope of this paper. Differences in revenue sources can have impacts on the equity (fairness) of funding. However, identifying the incidence of various taxes supporting education at the state and local levels is more complex than simply identifying the intended payer (e.g., Fullerton & Metcalf, 2002; Oates & Fischel, 2016).

Funding shares by level of government vary substantially among the states. The federal share ranges from less than five percent in Connecticut and New Jersey to more than 15 percent in Louisiana, Mississippi, and South Dakota, reflecting the federal government's emphasis on equalizing spending for children in poverty (U.S. Department of Education, 2016). In a few states the local share is less than 20 percent, and it rises to as much as 60 percent (D.C. and Hawaii are exceptions as each has just one district). We provide state-by- state information on the percentage of public K-12 revenue from each level of government later in the report (Table 3) when we discuss K-12 funding in more detail.

III. Pre-K Funding for State Programs - the Current Landscape

Turning our focus to state pre-k programs, we summarize the basic information about how programs are funded and the associated revenue sources in Table 2. Most state pre-K programs are funded through discretionary grants with expenditures primarily determined by annual/biennial appropriations from general revenue (82.5%). That is to say, total state level funding and state funding per child for pre-K typically are set annually or biennially through the state legislature's regular budgetary process. State pre-K funding levels have rarely been set based on formal technical analyses that determine the cost of providing a well-defined high

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

quality program to the eligible population (adjusted for a realistic take-up rate). In most states funding per child is "set" implicitly through the state's determination of a total appropriation together with annual enrollment rather than based on an explicit analysis of the cost per child to provide a specific program or to meet the needs of specific children. If enrollments rise or fall, this can lead to changes in funding per child even with stable total funding. To prevent this, states may cap enrollment explicitly or a fixed level of funding per student can be set so that enrollment goes up or down depending on funding for the program (e.g., this has occurred in New York's Universal Pre-K Program). When there is no explicit, technical approach to determining the amount needed to adequate pay for pre-K for each child or to determine the eligible population, it is difficult to see how elected officials can make informed decisions about the funding required to adequately serve the intended population.

There are exceptions to the implicit, primarily political, process for determining state (and local) funding levels for pre-K, in lieu of an explicit process for determining a per child funding level adequate to meet specific goals for preschool education of specific children. One example is provided by New Jersey's "Abbott" pre-K program, which arose from litigation and court order. In this program, funding per child initially was based on the actual costs of providing a program defined by court order and state regulation in each of 31 communities and which the state was required to fund for all children in the communities who sought enrollment (the only eligibility requirement is age). After nearly a decade, the state calculated system-wide average funding amounts for three types of programs based on historical cost data (as explained later in the paper). The Abbott program is entirely state funded with no local share. Another example is shown by several other states that tie their state funded pre-K programs' standards to federal Head Start standards (e.g., Delaware, Minnesota, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Washington, Wisconsin); either implicitly or explicitly, federal Head Start spending per child in those states seems to influence the determination of state funding per child for these programs. Although none of these states fund "state Head Start" at a level equal to federal funding per child, the funding per child is above the national average for all of these states.

State pre-K programs are heavily reliant on state general revenues (exclusive of federal transfers for public programs including Medicaid) that primarily are generated by sales taxes, individual income taxes, corporate income taxes, other taxes, and charges and fees (these last often support the revenue generating university, hospital, or toll road). The revenue mix varies by state as, for example, some states do not have an individual income tax. Fluctuations in these revenues and in the demands of other programs for revenue (including growing entitlements for health care state and pension costs) can be expected to affect state funding for pre-K. Six states (Arizona, Georgia, Missouri, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Washington) have dedicated revenue sources; funds from these sources are specifically reserved for use in pre-K. Typically, dedicated revenue for pre-K has been from state lotteries or so-called sin taxes (e.g., beer tax), but some states have used other sources including an addition to the state sales tax (e.g., South Carolina) and tobacco settlement funds (e.g., Connecticut and Kansas). The advantage of a dedicated revenue stream is that it is less likely to be "raided" to meet competing needs and the program need not rely on an annual appropriation. Therefore, having a dedicated revenue source can provide a more stable funding base to the extent that this reduces competition from other programs and, particularly, if these dedicated sources of revenue are more resistant to fluctuations in the economy than are the sources of general revenue. During the "great recession" of 2008-2009, funding for state pre-K programs declined in total and per child as state revenues declined, and this seems to have been equally true where revenues had been thought to be more recession proof because they were dedicated lottery funds (e.g., Georgia).

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

State pre-K has virtually no required financial support from the local level and relatively little voluntary support, though the latter is difficult to estimate from existing data (Barnett et al., 2016; Barnett & Hustedt, 2011). For the 2014-15 school year states reported spending \$6.2 billion on state pre-K and could document just \$366 million in required local funds and \$96 million in non-required local funds. There are states that have specific requirements for local revenue. These exceptions include Maine, Oklahoma, and West Virginia, whose pre-k programs are financed within the K-12 formula and where state grants for each local provider are determined in part by the availability of locally controlled funds including federal Title I funds (e.g., Alabama). Some states require a substantial local match for pre-K (e.g., Arkansas), but do not specify that this is to be provided by local government. A number of state approaches can be viewed as essentially offering local public schools an incentive to provide preschool programs (including through partnerships with private providers) but without setting a specific amount to be paid by local government (e.g., Maine).

As for the distribution of state funds to the local or individual center level, approximately 72 percent of state funding is allocated via discretionary grants. Whenever funding is discretionary rather than mandatory, either the amount per child or the number of children that can be enrolled (or both) can vary based on upturns or downturns in the economy as well as changes in a legislature's priorities. These discretionary grants have no mechanisms that automatically ensure growth in funding to keep pace inflation or the number of children seeking enrollment or actually enrolled. As already noted, funding levels are rarely based on any realistic, technical assessment of adequacy. Rather, grants are based on available revenue and what lawmakers decide they are willing to allocate in the current year. Some grants are allocated differentially within a state, based on a formula that takes into account student and district needs. Others provide a single fixed amount per child or classroom regardless of any differences in the needs of the population served or geographic variations in the costs of providing a program.

IV. The K-12 Funding Formula as an Alternative Approach to Funding Pre-K

In contrast to the way the majority of states fund pre-K, a very different approach to federal-state-local funding has evolved for K-12 public education. The most obvious differences from state pre-K funding is that K-12 funding tends to be less reliant on state revenue, which in some states is the only source of funding for their pre-K programs. On average, the federal government contributed 8.6 percent, state government 46.7 percent, and local government 44.7 percent in 2013-14 (see Table 3). The percentages have varied over time but have been similar over the last decade except for a modest bump in the federal share during the Great Recession. There is substantial variation behind this national average. Although most states assign substantial responsibility for public education K-12 to local government, the local share of responsibility for funding varies greatly from state to state.

States have developed school funding systems that operate primarily based on formulas that provide local districts with state funds based on the number of children enrolled as a means of meeting their obligations to support the education of every child in the context of this joint state and local decision-making. Although this approach has been employed for about 100 years, it has evolved over time, with trends toward setting the formula amount based on an assessment of what is adequate to comply with state standards and policies and the use of per student weights to recognize differences in the needs of students (Verstegen, 2014). K-12 funding also is commonly provided outside the formula for such specific purposes as transportation and facilities, and some states address differences in student needs outside the formula through

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

categorical funding. Given the joint responsibilities for funding, a mix of state and local government decisions determine both the amount of funding provided for each child in K-12 and the sources of revenue that support that funding. The sole constant is that the federal share is relatively small.

Ideally, state K-12 funding formulas: (1) provide a basic level of assured funding for every child enrolled based on a determination what is required to provide each child with a constitutionally adequate education; (2) adjust state funding amounts provided to local districts for differences in the needs of children, differences in local capacity to raise revenue, and geographic differences in costs; and, (3) automatically adjust funding for changes in overall cost (e.g., inflation) as well as the number of students served.

Of course, reality often departs from the ideal. K-12 school funding formulas often do not guarantee adequate or equitable funding (Baker, Farrie, Luhm, & Sciarra, 2016). States have faced numerous lawsuits regarding the extent to which they meet their constitutional obligations (Baker & Welner, 2011). Scholars have pointed to both perceived shortcomings in the K-12 approach and avenues to address shortcomings in that approach (Baker & Welner, 2011). Yet, despite their flaws the K-12 formula might be a better approach to funding pre-K for most, if not all, states that do not already use this approach even in their current imperfect instantiations. To investigate this, we review the states' K-12 funding formulas and what is known about how they perform relative in three respects: adequacy, equity, and effort.

Pullout -- What is a K-12 Public School Funding Formula? How does it work?

State school funding formulas essentially distribute state revenue for public K-12 education to local school districts. They may also impose constraints on local school district revenue or expenditure. Most are (in theory) designed to increase adequacy and equity of expenditures by taking into account state requirements and differences among students and districts. Adequacy typically is pursued by ensuring a specified level of funding for every pupil with additional funding to recognize that some students have greater needs than others. Equity typically is pursued by adjusting funding to take into account that some districts have less capacity to raise revenue or higher costs than others.

The most common form of school financing formula is the foundation program, used by 46 states alone or in combination with another approach (Verstegen, 2016). Hawaii is a single school district with full state funding. North Carolina provides a flat amount to all districts to which they may add. Vermont and Wisconsin guarantee a tax base. The foundation program, establishes a level of guaranteed per-pupil revenue (the foundation level) at a set minimum property tax rate. State aid to a district is calculated as the difference in the foundation level and what the locality raises from the property tax. The two main issues to consider with a foundation program are how to set the foundation level and whether or not to allow districts to exceed foundation funding. The guaranteed tax base ensures that the tax rate (effort) of a local district will generate equal revenue regardless of its local property wealth.

In the large majority of states funding for public K-12 education is determined by formula according to some version of the following process:

1. Set a foundation level of funding per pupil. This is a minimum level of funding to educate a typical student in the state. This amount may be determined through a formal process seeking to determine what is adequate to meet the state's requirements as set forth in legislation and regulation. The foundation level may be derived through a formal

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

cost study using one of the established methodologies for determining the cost of an adequate education (Cost Function, Evidence-Based, Professional Judgment, or Successful Schools). In other cases, it is determined more informally based on historical spending levels among "successful districts" in the state or somewhat more arbitrarily based on the availability of funds and legislative and public will.

- 2. Weight the students. Almost all state school funding formulas use weights to take into account the higher costs of educating students with specified needs. The weights can appear arbitrary and often are based on historical precedent. Most states provide weights for students with disabilities, and many provide weights for English language learners and students in poverty, and some provide weights for other categories of students, such as gifted and talented students or those who are pregnant. Some states also provide additional weights for certain grade levels that are costlier, but as an illustration of how these vary, some states heavily weight early elementary grades (K-2) to provide reduced class sizes and additional reading instruction in those grades, whereas other states place more weight on high school grades due to higher cost of providing a variety of course offerings.
- 3. Count the students. Some states take single-day counts of students in attendance, which is easy to administer but can be rife with potential problems related to absences or transfers. Thus, most states take some average of periods in order to get a more accurate read of student count.
- 4. Account for regional variation. The large majority of states make adjustments based upon regional variation within a state in the costs to educate a student. Most states take into account economies of scale, providing additional per-student or categorical funding for districts that are small and remote. Some states also take into account regional cost variation directly by employing regional price indices.

Once all student weights and regional cost adjustments are applied to adjust the initial foundation level of spending per pupil, the result is multiplied by the number of students to derive the total level of formula funding for each district. To this figure is added any funding allocated outside of the formula in the form of "categorical funds" dedicated for such services as transportation, building construction, and school meals.

A complete explanation of each state's formula is beyond the scope of this paper. Verstegen (2015) provides a description of each state's funding formula on a website. Additional summary information on the use of funding formulas for public education can be obtained from Fazekas (2012) and Verstegen (2011 & 2014).

V. The K-12 School Funding Formula -- Adequacy, Equity, and Effort

To analyze public K-12 financing for the purpose of estimating the results of applying this approach to state-funded pre-k, we first assess how well the K-12 funding system in each state performs with respect to adequacy, equity, and effort. These measures offer a way to judge the overall effectiveness of state K-12 funding formulas and how this varies from state to state. This information provides a basis for judging how each state's pre-K program would fare if funded by the formula their state uses for K-12. Later in the paper, we present estimates of the additional revenue each state would have to allocate to pre-K if it applied the K-12 formula to pre-K.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Adequacy is easier to define than it is to measure, and how it should be estimated is subject to intense debate (Baker & Welner, 2011; Gronberg, Jansen, & Taylor, 2011; Hanushek & Lindseth, 2009). When we speak of adequacy, we speak of the amount of funding needed to provide some benchmark level of education services in the expectation of producing desired outcomes for students. Debates over the causal impacts of funding and the resources or services required to meet state requirements as set forth in educational standards, other regulations and legislation, and broader constitutional obligations are far from settled, though there is evidence that increased funding aimed at improving adequacy has improved educational outcomes for disadvantaged students (Baker & Welner, 2011; Lafortune, Rothstein, & Schanzenbach, 2016). For purposes of this paper, we adopt the simple perspective that more spending per pupil, adjusted for cost of living, is better, while acknowledging that states may vary in the efficiency with which these funds are employed.

To obtain estimates of general expenditure per pupil that can be applied to pre-K we remove estimated spending on special education. For pre-K, special education expenditure is separately funded, and it is not included in our measures of pre-K spending. For K-12, spending on special education, on average, accounts for approximately 24 percent of K-12 current expenditure. Special education enrollment varies dramatically by state, ranging from 8.6 percent to 17.5 percent. Spending per child in special education also seems to vary substantially across states. Unfortunately, we find no recent reliable estimates of special spending per pupil, so we have relied on data from the Center for Special Education Finance for 1999-2000¹. We adjust these estimates with the Bureau of Economic Analysis' index of Regional Price Parities² to estimate spending per pupil normalized for relative cost of living in each state.

For equity, or fairness, we provide a measure of intrastate distribution of funds. Equity in education is generally discussed in two ways: horizontal equity and vertical equity. Horizontal equity refers to how students with similar characteristics and backgrounds are funded relative to one another. Vertical equity refers to how students with differing characteristics and backgrounds are treated relative to one another in order to mitigate the effects of those differences on educational outcomes. For the purposes of this paper, we focus solely on vertical equity as it pertains to income as most state pre-K programs are focused on improving vertical equity. We provide estimates of the ratio of funding per pupil in higher poverty (> 30 percent of pupils) districts to per pupil funding in districts with no children in poverty. The higher the ratio (above one), the greater is vertical equity. As will be seen, for a considerable number of states this ratio is less than one, indicating that formulas generate less funding for higher poverty school districts.

Effort refers to how much of a state's capacity to spend is devoted to K-12 spending. We report two measures of effort: K-12 state spending as a fraction of state expenditure and K-12 current expenditure as a fraction of personal income in the state. We include both measures because they offer somewhat different perspectives. The first compares K-12 spending to the state's overall public spending. The second compares K-12 spending to the taxpayers' financial capacity.

Table 4 shows presents the information we have obtained for adequacy, equity, and effort of school funding by state. The table ranks states on these measures from best to worst and, in

¹ <u>http://www.csef-air.org/publications/csef/state/statepart2.pdf</u>

² http://www.bea.gov/newsreleases/regional/rpp/rpp_newsrelease.htm

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

addition, color codes the measures on a relative scale ranging from strong (dark green) to weak (red) to make it easier for the reader to visually capture patterns across the states. Perhaps the first and most obvious conclusion is there is a wide variation in K-12 formula performance for each of the measures. For example, adjusted spending per pupil ranges from \$16,068 (Alaska) to \$5,434 (Florida). The ratio of spending per pupil in a 30 percent poverty district versus a zero percent poverty district ranges from 1.59 (Alaska) to 0.56 (Nevada). State K-12 spending as a percentage of total spending ranges from 32 percent (Indiana) to 10 percent (West Virginia). K-12 spending as a percentage of each \$1,000 of personal income ranges from 11 percent (DC) to 38 percent (New York). Some states, like New Jersey, perform at a high standard across the board, but for the most part state formulas are neither strong nor weak across all measures.

VI. Measures of Adequacy, Equity, and Effort in State Pre-K

Adequacy and Effort

When assessing the adequacy of current funding for state pre-K programs, we face the same difficulties as with K-12. Pre-K spending per pupil, for most states, is not based on a technical analysis of what is required to provide an adequate preschool education. Rather than attempt to estimate the minimum amount needed for each state's program to meet their own standards or a common set of standards, we compare pre-K to K-12 spending per pupil in each state. This might be considered a measure of relative adequacy (and effort). Table 5 presents these ratios of pre-K spending per pupil to K-12 regular education spending per pupil. Once again, the results are color-coded with dark green indicating the highest ratios and dark red the lowest. On this measure of adequacy, we see a wide range of results. For example, North Carolina spends 1.05 times as much for pre-K per pupil as it does per regular K-12 pupil. Kansas spends a small fraction (0.28) for a pre-K per pupil compared to a K-12 pupil. Seven states -- Idaho, Montana, New Hampshire, North Dakota, South Dakota, Utah, and Wyoming -- have no state pre-K programs and so could be included as zero.

With this high-level view of pre-K funding adequacy by state, the next logical step is to analyze factors that could explain differences among states. We investigated two potential influences on these ratios: the mechanism by which each program is financed, and the share of students in each program receiving less than full-day services. Table 6 presents the results. The first two columns of data separate adequacy ratios into two groups based on whether or not the state uses the school funding formula to finance its pre-K program. There are 10 states (including D.C.) that we classify as using school funding formulas, 34 states we classify as using other funding schemes (formula and non-formula discretionary grants, state Head Start, and scholarships), and seven states with no state pre-K programs. As summarized at the bottom of the table the mean and median ratios for the school funding formula programs are 0.67 and 0.59, respectively. For the non-school funding formula programs, these are 0.59 and 0.53, respectively. Using a 2-tailed t-test, we find the differences in the means is not statistically significant (p = 0.34).

The next step is to adjust ratios for hours per day. Many pre-K programs offer at least some portion of their students only half-day services, so this should be taken into account when looking at spending per pupil. After prorating for hours per day, we see the mean and median ratios for the school funding formula programs are both 0.99. For the non-school funding formula programs, these are 0.78 and 0.74, respectively. Using a 2-tailed t-test, we find that difference in

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

means between formula and nonformula states is statistically significant (p = 0.01). This result is consistent with the view that using the school funding formula to finance pre-K spending is associated with higher spending and greater adequacy.

We also present in this table a look at state spending alone. The prior measures looked at total (federal, state, and local) spending per pupil (admittedly not completely measured in all states). We also look at state effort for pre-K measured as total dollars spent for pre-K versus K-12. We find that states using the school funding formula exert significantly more effort for pre-K relative to K-12. The average and median levels of pre-K/K-12 are 3.8% and 3.9%, respectively. This is compared to ratios for non-school funding formula of 2.2%, and 1.9%, respectively. Using a 2-tailed t-test, we find that the difference in means is statistically significant (p = 0.04). Clearly, we cannot ascribe causation. States with a greater public will to provide pre-K at a high standard to more of the population may be more likely to use the K-12 formula.

Table 7 provides more information on the programs that we have identified as using the K-12 school funding formula to fund their pre-K programs. This table gives more background information about program features, such as length of day and percent of the population enrolled at ages three and four, as well as about the share of state and local funding done at the state level. Also included is spending per pupil adjusted by the cost of living in each state (relative prices). This data helps to clarify one point about the school funding formula. The application of school funding formulas, although beneficial for adequacy in funding on average, yields many different effects on spending in each state. This should be expected given the wide variation in performance of state funding formulas we displayed earlier.

Equity

Most state preschool programs have no explicit provisions to adjust funding per child for equity. The obvious exceptions are states that use their K-12 formulas. However, in most states pre-K programs address equity in basic design by limiting eligibility for pre-K to children from low-income families and to those with other risks to school success. In some states this would make weights for vertical equity unnecessary, but this is not always the case. For example, Florida awards the same amount per pupil for every pre-K student in its universal program serving the vast majority of the state's four-year-olds.

Given the focus on eligibility as means to address equity, we examine share of the population of four-year-olds in each state served in a public pre-K program as compared to the share of the population of four-year-olds that would be considered at-risk. This is, admittedly, a rather limited way of analyzing equity as it assumes at-risk four-year-olds are the first to be enrolled in pre-K, and it ignores equity for states that enroll vast majority of children and do not limit eligibility based on income or other risk factors (e.g., Georgia, Florida, Vermont, West Virginia, and Wisconsin). Nevertheless, it does offer some insight into the coverage of at-risk four-year-olds by each state, recognizing that the vast majority of children from high-income families would attend pre-K regardless of whether it is publicly supported. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 8. We tally pre-K enrollment for four-year-olds across state pre-K programs, special education, and Head Start. For the at-risk population, we use an estimate of the percentage of four-year-olds at or below 150 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL) in each state. Once again, the results are color-coded, with darker green signifying greater coverage and darker red signifying lower coverage. There are large differences across states. Some (e.g., Georgia, Florida, Oklahoma, Vermont, West Virginia) have universal or very large pre-K programs so that enrollment of four-year-olds in pre-K programs greatly exceeds the percentage of four-year-olds at-risk. At the other end of the spectrum, in 19 states enrollment is less than

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

required to serve all children under 150% FPL, and to these states can be added 5 others that offer no pre-K. The index suggests that there are very large underserved populations in some states including Delaware (-18%), Indiana (-18%), Nevada (-21%), and Oregon (-17%).

For the states with the highest percentage of children enrolled, we can say something about equity beyond coverage. These are DC, Florida, Georgia, Iowa, Oklahoma, Vermont, Wisconsin, and West Virginia. All except Florida and Georgia use the school funding formula to fund pre-K. Their vertical equity can be assessed from the data in Table 4. Georgia and Florida provide the same amount of state pre-K funding to all students. In these two states, local public school contributions may affect spending per child across different communities, but private providers receiving only state funds serve many children.

VII. Does Using the K-12 School Funding Formula Affect Funding Growth?

As shown in Tables 6 and 7, utilization of a school funding formula for pre-K appears to be associated with adequacy, although states independently decide on daily schedule (part- or full-day provision). Another, potential benefit of applying the school funding to pre-K is that it might increase the stability and growth in funding over time. Table 9 and Charts 1 and 2 demonstrate how, for programs financed via school funding formulas, real spending per pupil has grown steadily over the period from school year 2005-2006 to 2014-2015, the 10-year period for which we have enough data on spending per pupil to conduct an analysis. This is in direct contrast to programs financed otherwise, which, on average, have yet to regain ground lost following the Great Recession. In Table 8 and Chart 1, real spending per pupil is indexed at 100 in 2005-06. Over the ensuing nine-year period, the ten state programs financed with school financing formulas posted 2.8 percent annualized growth. The average annualized growth rate of all other programs was just 0.7 percent during the same period. Chart 2 shows the growth rates for these 10 school funding formula-based pre-K programs, also indexed at school year 2005-2006 = 100.

VIII. Exemplars of the Use of Formulas to Fund Pre-K

We now take a closer look at a few of the 10 states that utilize school funding formulas for their pre-K programs to examine how pre-K funding is impacted in more detail. These states are Maine, Oklahoma, and West Virginia, plus New Jersey as it uses a unique formula within the public education system. In all three of the K-12 formula states, funding for pre-K is allocated exactly the same way it is allocated for K-12. That is to say, the state sets a guaranteed or foundation level of spending per child for K-12 that is applied to pre-K as well.

In Maine, the foundation level is set based on empirical studies of the cost of adequate education. It is noteworthy that preschool students receive a weight of 1.10 as a grade level compared to others. However, as the program is designated at only two hours per day, the state funding level for pre-K is quite low relative to that for K-12. Maine's school funding formula also has factors to increase financial resources to children in low-income districts and for districts with higher percentages of English Language Learners. Yet, in Maine, spending per pupil in districts with 30 percent poverty is just 86 percent of the level reported in no-poverty districts. This ratio ranks 39th out of the 50 states. Overall, this information raises questions about the adequacy and

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

equity of funding for pre-K, though access to funding through the state formula also made it possible for districts to rapidly expand enrollment even during difficult economic times. In Maine, the approach is highly dependent on the state funding acting as an incentive for local school district initiative.

Oklahoma differs from Maine in setting its foundation level based on how much the Oklahoma legislature decides it can allocate to education in a given year. In Oklahoma, the recession had a significant impact on tax revenue. Oklahoma state tax revenue in recent years has only just recently climbed back to levels seen in 2009. Even with the Oklahoma legislature increasing the portion of funding of total tax revenue going to education, the Oklahoma Board of Education reduced the foundation level of funding per pupil from \$3,275 in 2009 to \$3,050 in 2015. Total spending per pupil nevertheless increased slightly as foundation levels were supplemented by adjustments for such population factors as grade level, special education, and income. Moreover, as districts can draw down state dollars for a full school day program and most choose to do so, both state funding per child and total funding per child in Oklahoma a relatively high, particularly when the relatively low cost of living in that state is taken into account.

West Virginia approaches state education financing differently from the two prior examples. Instead of setting a general foundation level, funding is determined based on targets for staff per pupil. In West Virginia, though, there are very few adjustments to account for student or district variables, which essentially means most students and all districts are treated the same in terms of financial needs. However, at the preschool level in addition to state and local public education dollars, West Virginia facilitates substantial collaboration and blending of funding streams between the state program and various federal programs. West Virginia does this by allowing local district providers to collaborate with Head Start and TANF in their delivery of the state pre-K program. This blending has allowed West Virginia to offer full-day programming to 85% of its pre-K students while state funding covered only half-day programming. In the 2014-15 school year, this blending of funds lifted spending per pupil from around \$5,600 per student to \$9,600 per student. Overall, West Virginia manages to provide a relatively high level of state funding and one of the highest levels of total funding per child in pre-K while having near universal coverage, despite being a very low-income state.

As should be clear, the impacts of a school funding formula depend on the details, and it is possible to generate funds for pre-K using a formula approach that differs in its details from that used for K-12. One example of such a non-school-funding-formula program is New Jersey's Abbott preschool program, which resulted from the Abbott v. Burke school funding case (Sciarra & Hunter, 2015). In 2015, this program served approximately 43,600 three- and four-year-olds in high-quality pre-k classrooms at approximately \$15,300 per child (Barnett et al., 2016). The underpinning of this cost per child dates back to 2009, when the NJ Department of Education used cost information taken by a detailed, line-item data audit of the Abbott preschool program to determine the cost of providing high-quality preschool. In essence, the court ordered the provision of high quality preschool education to meet the individualized needs of children in 31 districts serving high poverty populations. Initially, expenditures were based on budgets submitted with plans to meet these needs that differed within and across districts and which were reviewed and approved at the classroom level. After nearly a decade of experience with this process, the state created a formula that provided more uniform funding based on an analysis of that historical data. This led to a formula that provided funding per child of \$11,506 for students

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

served in school buildings, \$12,934 for students served by private providers under contract to districts, and \$7,146 for students served by Head Start³. The higher level of private providers recognizes that they do not have access to facilities funds outside the formula, whereas public school buildings are paid for outside the formula. These per pupil funding levels have continued to be the basis for funding after adjustments for annual inflation. The relatively high level of funding provided is directly attributable to its derivation based on the actual costs of providing high levels of service determined as needed to meet specific needs. As all of the districts involved have higher than average concentrations of low-income students, it is apparent that if such a formula were to be applied more generally it would require additional adjustments for equity. Somewhat along these lines, New Jersey funds preschool programs in school districts with lower concentrations of low-income students at much lower levels.

IX. Impact of the School Funding Formula on Pre-K Teacher Compensation

Low levels of wages and benefits is a longstanding problem for the early childhood workforce (Allen & Kelly, 2015; Hall-Kenyon, Bullough, MacKay, & Marshall, 2014). Clearly, teachers in public education K-12 have higher wages and benefits (Barnett et al., 2016). And although there is a good deal of variability in the results of school funding formulas, they would generate more expenditure for pre-K than most current approaches which ought to lead to higher salaries and benefits in pre-K.

Table 10 presents data that allows us to assess the potential impact of the K-12 school funding formula on pre-K teacher wages. This table contains data for 24 state pre-K programs that do not require salary parity by law or regulation and serve at least five percent of their state's four-year-old population. Only five states have broad salary parity policies that apply to all teachers (Hawaii and Missouri require equivalent salaries and benefits in all settings; New Jersey, Oklahoma, and Tennessee require salary parity but do not require the same benefits for teachers in state pre-K outside the public schools). The data we use is median annual salary data for pre-K teachers working in any center-based program but excluding special education, as collected by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). This salary data is adjusted for relative prices in each state, using the Regional Price Parity index from the Bureau of Economic Analysis. We use this data in lieu of data on teachers in state pre-K programs, as this more specific data is not available for many states. However, by narrowing the states examined to those with programs covering at least five percent of four-year-olds, we eliminate those in which very few of the teachers in the median BLS salary data are state pre-K teachers. Table 10 also reports the ratio of median pre-K to kindergarten teacher salary, as reported by the BLS. We include only programs without explicit salary parity policies in order to focus on the impact of funding mechanism per se on salary. The data in this table give evidence of the positive effect school funding formulas on pre-K wages. The median price-adjusted wage in a school funding formula state is \$43,531 versus \$36,047 for the other states. As a ratio to kindergarten wages, pre-K wages are substantially higher in school funding formula states (median 0.83 versus 0.71 in other states). Looking at the averages of the school funding formula states versus the other states, we characterize the results as suggestive keeping in mind the small number of states. Based on simple two-tailed t-tests, differences in the

³ Head Start providers receive their full federal funding as well, so the amounts shown here are not total funding per pupil for Head Start

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

means are not statistically significant at conventional levels for either the difference in ratios of pre-K to K salaries (p = .10) or the difference in average annual salaries adjusted for relative prices (p = 0.08).

X. Potential impacts of the K-12 School Funding Formula on Pre-K Funding

In this section of the paper, we estimate the additional expenditures from state and local (school districts) governments that would result from applying each state's K-12 school funding formula to pay for universal pre-K for four-year-olds. This analysis is built upon two comparisons. The first is to take data on average K-12 spending per pupil, excluding spending on special education and compare these spending levels to estimates for spending per pupil for pre-K, all by levels of government. The second is to take four-year-old enrollments in pre-K, as a share of the total four-year-old population in each state, and compare these to a target of 80 percent enrollment. Once we have the estimates of added pre-K expenditures, we present these a percentage of direct government expenditure at each level of government. The data are displayed in Tables 11a-d, with the additional expenditure by state and local governments reported in Table 11d.

Here follows a more in-depth description of our procedures for estimating added expenditure from use of the formula, broken into three steps:

- 1. Calculate the difference in spending per pupil between K-12, excluding special education, and current pre-K spending per pupil. Note the pre-K spending per pupil is only looking at state pre-K programs. This gives an estimate on how much spending per pupil would change if state pre-K were to be funded using the K-12 school funding formula. These measures are calculated separately for state, local, and federal government spending; the differences are presented in Table 11b. These figures are not prorated based on providing a half-day rather than a full day, and they most likely underrepresent local funding and locally controlled federal funding, which is not reported at all for some states. Negative figures for state (and federal) spending per pupil in Table 11b indicate states in which the pre-K is spending more state (and federal) money per child for pre-K than would be allocated on average under the K-12 formula. This can reflect recognition in the state's approach to pre-K funding and expenditure that the population served by state pre-K is more disadvantaged and tends to reside in lower income communities than the average child. It also reflects the proportionally larger federal role in early education and the potential for states to draw on federal early childhood dollars.
- 2. Calculate the difference in share of the population of four-year-olds currently served in state pre-k versus what is desired. For the purposes of this analysis, we define universal coverage as 80 percent. Convert this share of population to number of pupils. These figures are reported in Table 11c, the last column being the increase in enrollment under universal coverage (Target less Enrollment).
- 3. First, multiply the difference in spending per pupil calculated in step one by number of pupils by students already covered in programs. This provides the change in total funding for pupils already enrolled. Second, add to that dollar amount the product of K-12 spending per pupil and the number of uncovered pupils. The sum of these two figures produces estimates of increases in spending, by level of government,

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

generated by financing pre-K with a K-12 school funding formulas for universal, fullday enrollment. These results are presented in Table 11d.

As can be seen, the additional expenditures potentially generated by K-12 formulas applied to pre-K are quite large relative to current public expenditure on state-funded pre-K in every state, with a few exceptions. These exceptions are states that have, or are near, universal pre-K already (though not all of these offer a full school day to every child currently). A large share of the increase is from local government. The local government figures provide an indication of the potential for the use of the K-12 formula to expand expenditures and, in particular, of the extent to which current approaches to funding pre-K, which do not currently rely on local public schools, overlook a substantial source of revenue to support expenditures. Oklahoma, Vermont, and West Virginia are examples of states that already are already use the school funding formula to fund universal pre-K and so do heavily rely on expenditures from local as well as state government in amounts similar to those we estimate (though they do not necessarily enroll 80 percent). When viewing these figures, keep in mind that current local expenditures for pre-K are not fully accounted for by current reporting systems. Also, some four-year-old children are served through other programs including federal Head Start so that state pre-K may not need to serve 80 percent in each state for all four-year-olds to be offered pre-K.

Finally, these estimates are designed to indicate the maximum expenditure that would be generated under a shift to the school funding formula in each state to serve 4-year-olds. Obviously, this also implies an equal amount of revenue requiring either raising new revenue or reducing expenditures elsewhere in state and local government. Our estimates suggest that in most states these maximums are only a fraction of 1 percent for state and for local government with the exceptions almost all states that current provide little or no state pre-K.

XI. Summary

In this paper, we have reviewed the adequacy and equity of funding for state-funded pre-K programs, reviewed the adequacy and equity (and effort) of publicly K-12 education systems, and investigated how use of the K-12 school funding formula might impact pre-K. We find evidence that when states currently use K-12 school funding formulas to fund pre-K there are some advantages. In particular, the use of the school funding formula in pre-K is associated with (a) higher pre-K funding relative to a state's K-12 per pupil funding, and (b) more stability and growth in real spending per pupil over time. In addition, there is suggestive evidence that teacher salaries are higher in states that use the school funding formula when we examine this using an approach that might be expected to underestimate impacts because it examines salaries of all pre-K teachers whether or not they are employed in state pre-K.

Our report also makes clear that state school funding formulas are not without their own problems and differ substantially across states with respect to adequacy, equity, and effort. However, for the most part current approaches to funding pre-K have not used formal approaches to determine adequacy, do not have explicit adjustments for equity (but deal with this through eligibility), and reflect less effort than the K-12 school financing formula. Clearly, moving to the school funding formula for pre-K financing has the potential to increase the adequacy of funding, improve equity and increase effort, all of which could facilitate improvements in workforce compensation.

Adequacy and equity might be most substantially increased in states that do not currently rely on local public schools for funding. Although some might fear that this could lead to a

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

decline in mixed delivery using the private sector, it is evident that some formula states make extensive use of private providers (e.g., West Virginia and Wisconsin), and the only state in which this would be prohibited is Hawaii (which is entirely state funded and does not allow any public funding for private education programs). If there is a desire to ensure that private providers are strong part of a state pre-K system funded by the K-12 formula, then there is no impediment in the rest of the states. However, policies may be required to encourage and facilitate district partnerships with private providers and modifications may be required to the K-12 formula to recognize differences in access to education funds outside the formula including funding for transportation and facilities (as in New Jersey's pre-K formula).

Finally, K-12 funding formulas offer useful models for desirable ways to approach funding, even if these are sometimes honored more in the breach, regardless of whether pre-K is brought into the K-12 formula formally. There is plenty of room to improve K-12 funding formulas. Nevertheless, a major strength of the formula approach in addition to those already noted is that it is more transparent than the alternatives typically used for funding pre-K. Optimally, a formal process would be engaged in to determine an adequate level of funding for pre-K and this figure would be used to determine a pre-K weight in the state public education funding formula. In addition, adjustments might be made to take into account partnerships with child care and Head Start that would provide more federal money per child (at least for those eligible) than is typically available for school age children. The District of Columbia, Connecticut, New Jersey, and West Virginia are states to which one can look for examples of innovative approaches that could enhance the use of federal funds in a K-12 funding formula approach to pre-K.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

XII. Tables and Charts

Table 1. Funding for early care and education at ages three and four by level of government, 2015.

	Level of Government										
Program	Fede	eral	Sta	ite	Lo	Local		tal			
	amt., bn.	% total	amt., bn.	% total	amt., bn.	% total	amt., bn.	% total			
Head Start ¹	\$6.6	50%					\$6.6	28%			
Title II-VI ²	\$0.1	1%					\$0.1	0%			
CCDF+TANF ³	\$1.0	8%					\$1.0	4%			
SSBG ⁴	\$0.1	1%					\$0.1	1%			
CACFP ⁵	\$2.3	18%					\$2.3	10%			
Tax Subsidies ⁶	\$1.6	12%					\$1.6	6%			
State Pre-K ⁷	\$0.7	5%	\$6.1	80%	\$0.7	21%	\$7.5	31%			
Preschool Special Ed. ⁸	\$0.3	2%	\$1.6	20%	\$1.0	33%	\$2.9	12%			
Local Pre-K ⁹	\$0.4	3%			\$1.4	45%	\$1.8	7%			
Sum	\$13.1		\$7.7		\$3.1		\$23.9				

1 Data accesses from Head Start Program Information Report at https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/hslc/data/pir, NIEER calculations

2 Budget data available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget17/17action.pdf,

NIEER Estimate for spending on ECE based upon ratio derived from estimated Title I spent on ECE/Total Title I available

3 CCDF data available at https://www.cfda.gov/?s=program&mode=form&tab=step1&id=a055c31de8018a7cbf9a19e3c25ae4cc, TANF data available at

http://www.hhs.gov/about/budget/fy2017/budget-in-brief/acf/mandatory/index.html, NIEER calculations to adjust for share going to ECE

4 Data available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/ocs/ssbg 2014 annual report final 508 compliant.pdf

5 Data available at https://www.cfda.gov/?s=program&mode=form&tab=step1&id=2a12fb2d62445c49f23c0566bda65791; NIEER calculations

6 Estimate based on testimony before H.O.R. by Kay Brown, Director at GAO. Link at http://www.gao.gov/assets/670/660685.pdf

7 Barnett et al, 2016. The State of Preschool 2015: State Preschool Yearbook. New Brunswick, NJ: NIEER.

8 Federal IDEA data available at data available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget17/17action.pdf,

State and local enrollment data based on US DOE data available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/reports/annual/osep/2015/parts-b-c/37th-arc-for-idea.pdf,

Cost data estimates based on data from The Special Education Expenditure Project at http://csef.air.org/, State and local shares based on

Parrish and Chambers (1996)

9 Enrollment estimate based on data on preschool data collected by The Office for Civil Rights available at

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-2013-14.html, NIEER estimates for cost

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Table 2. State pre-K state and local funding mechanism and revenue sources, 2015.

Funding Mechanisms									
	# States Represented	Amount, millions	Share of Total						
Discretionary Grants	31	\$3,161	46.6%						
School Funding Formula	10	\$1,798	26.5%						
Discretionary Formula Grants	14	\$1,736	25.6%						
Scholarships	1	\$41	0.6%						
Tax Credits	2	\$34	0.5%						
SIBs	2	\$20	0.3%						
sum		\$6,783							

Revenue Sources

	# States Represented	Amount, millions	Share of Total
State General Appropriations	42	\$5,595	82.5%
Property Taxes	18	\$579	8.5%
State Lottery	3	\$405	6.0%
Other Local Taxes	16	\$91	1.3%
State Tobacco Settlements	3	\$51	0.8%
State Sin Tax	1	\$33	0.5%
SIBs	2	\$18	0.3%
State Sales Tax	1	\$7	0.1%
State Gambling Funds	1	\$4	0.1%
sum		\$6,783	

All data from Barnett el al. (2016).

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

	Revenue from Federal	Revenue from State Sources	Revenue from Local Sources
	Sources (%)	(%)	(%)
United States	8.6	46.7	44.7
Alabama	10.8	54.8	34.4
Alaska	12.1	67.2	20.7
Arizona	13.3	38.4	48.3
Arkansas	10.7	77.4	11.9
California	10.6	55.0	34.4
Colorado	7.5	43.5	49.1
Connecticut	4.0	39.4	56.6
Delaware	7.0	59.8	33.2
District of Columbia*	10.1	89.9	-
Florida	11.9	40.1	47.9
Georgia	10.1	44.0	45.9
Hawaii	10.6	87.3	2.0
Idaho	11.2	63.3	25.5
Illinois	7.6	36.7	55.7
Indiana	7.7	62.8	29.5
Iowa	7.4	52.4	40.2
Kansas	7.3	57.4	35.3
Kentucky	11.4	54.9	33.7
Louisiana	15.3	41 5	43.2
Maine	7.0	39.6	53.4
Maryland	5.8	44.3	49.9
Maryland	4.8	40.0	55.2
Michigan	80	57.5	33.2
Minnosota	5 7	69.0	25.2
Miniesota	14.0	50.2	23.5
Missouri	88	42.0	40.2
Montana	11.0	42.0	40.2
Nobroska	0 1	40.0	40.2 E0.2
Nevedo	0.1	62.1	39.2
New Hownshine		24.1	27.0
New Hampshire	5.5	34.1	<u> </u>
New Merice	4.2	40.3	17 5
New Mexico	12.9 F F	09.0 40.6	17.5
New IOIK	5.5	40.0	20.2
North Dalasta	11.4	50.5	30.3
	10.2	30.9	50.9
Ohlahama	/.5	42.2	20.1
Oklanoma	7.0	49.5	39.1
Dregon	1.9	51.0	40.4
Pennisylvania Dhada Jaland	0.0	37.2	50.5
Knode Island	0.7	37.9	54.0
South Carolina	9.7	46.4	43.9
South Dakota	13.9	30.8	55.3
I ennessee	11.9	40.8 20.0	41.3
	10.7	39.0	50.3
Utah	δ.δ	53./	37.5
Vermont	6.1	89.4	4.5
Virginia	6.7	39./	53.6
Washington	8.0	60.5	31.5
west Virginia	10.0	58.1	31.9
Wisconsin	7.5	51.9	40.6
Wyoming	6.4	54.5	39.1

Table 3. Percentage distribution of public K-12 revenue by source and state, 2014

Adapted from U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). *Public Education Finances: 2014*. "Table 5. Percentage of Distribution of Public Elementary-Secondary School System Revenue by Source and State: Fiscal Year 2014." Retrieved from <u>https://www2.census.gov/govs/school/14f33pub.pdf</u>

* Note U.S. Census Bureau categorizes D.C. as a locality, but for the purposes of this table we have categorized it as a state

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

1			ITV	FFFORT						
	K-12 Total Sper	iding per Pupil.	K-12 Spending	per Pupil: 30%	K-12 State Ext	penditure as a	N1			
	Ex-SPED and	Adjusted for	Poverty Dist. v	s. 0% Poverty	Share of Total St	ate Expenditure	K-12 Current E	xpenditure per		
	Relativ	e Cost ¹	Dis	st. ²	5	3	\$1000 of Pers	onal Income ⁴		
	amt	rank	ratio	rank	%	rank	ratio	ratio rank		
Alabama	\$8,990	28	0.92	34	20.5%	18	21.87	34		
Alaska	\$16,068	1	1.59	1	14.1%	45	35.63	2		
Arizona	\$7,311	43	0.90	37	18.3%	26	16.02	50		
Arkansas	\$8,324	37	1.00	21	15.1%	39	24.15	17		
California	\$7,201	46	1.03	16	21.3%	17	19.22	43		
Colorado	\$8,110	39	1.02	17	25.4%	7	18.14	47		
Connecticut	\$12,295	9	0.98	23	14.2%	44	26.34	9		
Delaware	\$10,781	14	1.49	2	24.1%	10	25.34	14		
District of Columbia	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		N/A	11.30	51		
Florida	\$5,434	50	0.94	30	19.2%	21	17.96	48		
Georgia	\$7,211	45	1.12	8	24.3%	9	25.64	13		
Hawaii	\$8,740	31	N/A	N/A	15.0%	41	22.33	30		
Idaho	\$6,215	49	0.86	43	24.0%	11	19.29	41		
Illinois	\$10,086	19	0.76	45	14.6%	42	27.25	8		
Indiana	\$10,284	16	1.10	10	32.0%	1	21.91	33		
Iowa	\$9,371	25	0.93	31	16.6%	33	24.15	17		
Kansas	\$8,692	33	1.05	13	25.9%	5	22.34	29		
Kentucky	\$7,774	41	1.00	20	17.4%	30	23.13	26		
Louisiana	\$9,099	26	1.15	7	18.9%	22	21.31	37		
Maine	\$11,653	11	0.87	41	17.0%	31	26.06	12		
Maryland	\$9,538	23	0.95	27	18.8%	23	23.96	21		
Massachusetts	\$12,496	8	1.11	9	12.0%	48	24.80	16		
Michigan	\$10,201	18	0.98	23	26.9%	4	22.83	27		
Minnesota	\$9,728	22	1.27	5	28.2%	3	23.29	23		
Mississippi	\$8,437	36	0.98	22	16.3%	34	22.65	28		
Missouri	\$9,938	20	0.86	42	22.8%	14	21.52	36		
Montana	\$9,795	21	0.74	46	15.7%	37	24.05	20		
Nebraska	\$11,232	13	1.05	11	14.4%	43	27.43	7		
Nevada	\$7,351	42	0.56	49	19.6%	19	19.22	43		
New Hampshire	\$12,880	6	0.88	40	22.2%	16	25.15	15		
New Jersey	\$14,785	3	1.22	6	23.6%	12	30.39	4		
New Mexico	\$8,720	32	0.93	33	18.3%	26	23.24	24		
New York	\$15,280	2	0.91	36	19.3%	20	38.04	1		
North Carolina	\$7,913	40	1.05	12	22.4%	15	20.36	40		
North Dakota	\$9,493	24	0.65	47	15.8%	36	19.28	42		
Ohio	\$10,304	15	1.27	4	16.8%	32	24.07	19		
Oklahoma	\$8,131	38	1.04	14	15.6%	38	17.53	49		
Oregon	\$10,212	17	0.94	29	17.9%	29	22.20	31		
Pennsylvania	\$11,354	12	0.97	26	18.7%	24	26.10	11		
Rhode Island	\$12,917	5	0.93	31	13.4%	47	26.28	10		
South Carolina	\$8,592	34	0.97	25	18.4%	25	23.84	22		
South Dakota	\$8,582	35	0.82	44	14.0%	46	18.39	46		
Tennessee	\$6,939	47	1.03	15	18.3%	26	20.74	39		
Texas	\$7,296	44	0.95	27	25.0%	8	21.84	35		
Utah	\$6,693	48	1.27	3	25.7%	6	22.03	32		
Vermont	\$12,524	7	0.88	39	31.7%	2	33.99	3		
Virginia	\$8,939	29	0.91	35	15.1%	39	20.91	38		
Washington	\$8,838	30	1.01	18	23.4%	13	18.93	45		
West Virginia	\$11,856	10	0.89	38	9.8%	50	27.98	6		
Wisconsin	\$9,071	27	1.01	19	16.1%	35	23.17	25		
Wyoming	\$12,993	4	0.65	48	10.0%	49	28.67	5		

Table 4. K-12 spending: measures of adequacy, equity, and effort, 2014.

1 Spending per pupil adapted from U.S. Census Bureau (2016). SPED adjustment data adapted from Parrish et al. (2003) retrieved at http://www.csef-air.org/publications/csef/state/statepart2.pdf, and Department of Education National Center for Education Statistics (2016) at http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/tables/dt15_204.70.asp?current=yes. Relative cost adjustments made using Regional Price Parities index from Bureau of Economic Analysis (2016), retrieved http://www.bea.gov/newsreleases/regional/rpp/2016/pdf/rpp0716.pdf

2 Adapted using poverty level by district data from U.S. Census Bureau (2015) Small Area Income and Povery Estimates, retrieved at https://www.census.gov/did/www/saipe/data/schools/.

3 K-12 state spending data from U.S. Census Bureau (2016). Total state expenditure data retrieved from U.S. Census Bureau, Department of Commerce: State and Local Government Finances (2016), at http://www.census.gov/govs/local/.

4 Expenditure data from U.S. Census Bureau, Department of Commerce: State and Local Government Finances (2016), at http://www.census.gov/govs/local/.

Personal income data from Bureau of Economic Analysis (2016) data on State Personal Income, at http://www.bea.gov/regional/index.htm.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

ſ		K-12 Sponding per Pupil ev-	
	Pre-K Spending per Pupil	Snecial Ed	Pre-K/K-12
Alahama	\$6.666	\$8 315	0.80
Alaska	\$6,000	\$15,029	0.42
Arizona	\$3,413	\$7.082	0.48
Arkansas	\$4 372	\$7,002	0.55
California	\$5 441	\$7,788	0.70
Colorado	\$3,827	\$8,090	0.47
Connecticut	\$10 184	\$13,254	0.77
Delaware	\$7,100	\$10,668	0.67
District of Columbia	\$17.509	\$21,764	0.80
Florida	\$2.304	\$5.276	0.44
Georgia	\$3.880	\$7,482	0.52
Hawaii	\$7.671	\$11.503	0.67
Idaho	-	\$5.943	-
Illinois	\$3,735	\$10.815	0.35
Indiana	\$2.875	\$10,195	0.28
Iowa	\$3.595	\$9.301	0.39
Kansas	\$2.262	\$8.146	0.28
Kentuckv	\$7.679	\$7.416	1.04
Louisiana	\$4.658	\$9.061	0.51
Maine	\$5.966	\$11.501	0.52
Marvland	\$8,247	\$10,369	0.80
Massachusetts	\$3.847	\$13.184	0.29
Michigan	\$6.447	\$10.096	0.64
Minnesota	\$7.824	\$9.291	0.84
Mississippi	\$3,762	\$7,928	0.47
Missouri	\$3,211	\$9,562	0.34
Montana	-	\$10,561	-
Nebraska	\$5,711	\$11,073	0.52
Nevada	\$3,424	\$7,257	0.47
New Hampshire	-	\$13,583	-
New Jersey	\$12,149	\$15,909	0.76
New Mexico	\$4,722	\$8,154	0.58
New York	\$6,617	\$16,482	0.40
North Carolina	\$7,793	\$7,409	1.05
North Dakota	-	\$10,859	-
Ohio	\$4,000	\$10,185	0.39
Oklahoma	\$7,782	\$7,982	0.97
Oregon	\$8,648	\$9,888	0.87
Pennsylvania	\$5,630	\$11,476	0.49
Rhode Island	\$9,641	\$13,436	0.72
South Carolina	\$3,574	\$8,122	0.44
South Dakota	-	\$8,491	-
Tennessee	\$6,687	\$6,509	1.03
Texas	\$3,639	\$7,417	0.49
Utah	-	\$6,041	-
Vermont	\$6,589	\$13,754	0.48
Virginia	\$5,887	\$9,225	0.64
Washington	\$8,232	\$9,064	0.91
West Virginia	\$9,898	\$10,698	0.93
Wisconsin	\$6,018	\$9,233	0.65
Wyoming	-	\$13,386	-

Table 5. Pre-K spending per pupil relative to K-12 spending per pupil, 2014.

Pre-K spending per pupil data from Barnett et al. (2016).

K-12 spending per pupil data from U.S. Census Bureau (2016), SPED adjustment data adapted from

Parrish et al. (2003) and U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (2016).

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Table 6 Ratios of spending of Pre-K to K-12 (ex-special education), prorated and grouped by school funding formula and non-school funding formula, 2014.

	Pre-K Funding Mechanism	For Non-SFF ProgramsRatio of Spending per Pupil - Pre-K/K-12 ex-SPED	For SFF Programs Ratio of Spending per Pupil - Pre- K/K-12 ex-SPED	For Non-SFF ProgramsRatio of Spending per Pupil - Pre-K/K-12 ex-SPED Prorated	For SFF Programs Ratio of Spending per Pupil - Pre- K/K-12 ex-SPED Prorated	For Non-SFF Programs Ratio of State Spending Only - Pre-K / K-12 Ex-SPED	For SFF Programs Ratio of State Spending Only - Pre-K / K-12 Ex- SPED
Alabama	Discretionary Grant	0.80		0.80		1.3%	
Alaska	Discretionary Grant	0.42		0.89		0.2%	
Arizona	Discretionary Grant	0.48		0.48		1.3%	
Arkansas	Discretionary Grant	0.55		0.55		3.4%	
California	Discretionary Grant	0.70		0.92		2.3%	
Colorado	School Funding Formula		0.47		0.95		1.7%
Connecticut	Formula Grant	0.77		0.77		4.6%	
Delaware	State Head Start	0.67		1.33		0.8%	
D.C.	School Funding Formula		0.80		0.80	N/A	
Florida	Discretionary Grant	0.44		0.87		6.7%	
Georgia	Discretionary Grant	0.52		0.52		5.6%	
Hawaii	Formula Grant	0.67		0.67		0.2%	
Idaho	-						
Illinois	Discretionary Grant	0.35		0.60		3.4%	
Indiana	Formula Grant	0.28		0.42		0.0%	
Iowa	School Funding Formula		0.39		0.64		3.9%
Kansas	Formula Grant	0.28		0.56		0.9%	
Kentucky	School Funding Formula		1.04		1.04		2.5%
Louisiana	Discretionary Grant	0.51		0.51		2.1%	
Maine	School Funding Formula		0.52		1.04		2.2%
Maryland	Formula Grant	0.80		1.20		2.3%	
Massachusetts	Discretionary Grant	0.29		0.39		0.3%	
Michigan	Formula Grant	0.64		0.67		3.2%	
Minnesota	Scholarship	0.84		1.26		0.2%	
Mississippi	Discretionary Grant	0.47		0.47		0.2%	
Missouri	Discretionary Grant	0.34		0.35		0.4%	
Montana	-						
Nebraska	Formula Grant	0.52		0.77		4.2%	
Nevada	Discretionary Grant	0.47		1.18		0.2%	
New Hampshire	-						
New Jersey	Formula Grant	0.76		0.78		7.8%	
New Mexico	Discretionary Grant	0.58		1.16		1.9%	
New York	Formula Grant	0.40		0.50		4.7%	
North Carolina	Discretionary Grant	1.05		1.05		2.0%	
North Dakota	-						
Ohio	Discretionary Grant	0.39		0.79		0.7%	
Oklahoma	School Funding Formula		0.97		1.22		6.5%
Oregon	State Head Start	0.87		1.40		2.7%	
Pennsylvania	Discretionary Grant	0.49		0.56		2.1%	
Rhode Island	Formula Grant	0.72		0.72		0.4%	
South Carolina	Formula Grant	0.44		0.59		2.2%	
South Dakota	-	4.00		4.00		2.00/	
1 ennessee	Formula Grant	1.03	0.40	1.03	0.00	3.0%	6 50/
1 exas	School Funding Formula		0.49		0.98		0.5%
Utan	-		0.40		0.04		1.604
Vermont	Discretion	0.64	0.48	0.64	0.94	1.407	1.6%
Washington	Discretionary Grant	0.04		0.64		1.4%	
West Vington	Cahool Funding Formula	0.91	0.02	1.24	0.00	1.2%	F 10/
West Virginia	School Funding Formula		0.93		0.99		5.1%
Wyoming	School Fullung Formula		0.05		1.20		4.2%
Average	-	0.50	0.67	0.70	0.00	2.20/	2.00/
Average>		0.59	0.67	0.78	0.99	2.2%	3.8%
2-Tailed T-Tost		0.55	0.59	0.74	0.99	1.9%	3.9%
P-Value>		0.34		0.01		0.04	

Pre-K spending data and prorating from Barnett et al. (2016).

K-12 spending data from U.S. Census Bureau (2016), SPED adjustment data adapted from Parrish et al. (2003) and U.S. Department of Education,

National Center for Education Statistics (2016).

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

										State Shar	re of State
									-	+ Local l	Revenue
State	Pre-K Spending per Pupil	Pre-K Spending per Pupil, Adjusted for Relative Prices	K-12 Spending per Pupil, Ex-SPED	Spending per Pupil Ratio: Pre- K/K-12	Hours/Day	% Half Day	Prorated Spending per Pupil Ratio: Pre- K/K-12	Enrollment 3s, % population	Enrollment 4s, % population	Pre-K	K-12
Colorado	\$3,827	\$3,745	\$8,090	0.47	min 2.0	N/A	0.95	7.9%	23.3%	64%	47%
District of Columbia	\$17,509	\$14,876	\$21,764	0.80	6.5	N/A	0.80	63.6%	86.3%	N/A	N/A
Iowa SVPP	\$2,877	\$3,186	\$9,301	0.31	3	100%	0.62	1.6%	57.1%	-	57%
Kentucky	\$7,679	\$8,619	\$7,416	1.04	min 2.5	N/A	1.04	8.1%	25.8%	79%	62%
Maine	\$5,966	\$6,106	\$11,501	0.52	min 2.0	N/A	1.04	0.0%	36.2%	46%	43%
Oklahoma	\$7,782	\$8,656	\$7,982	0.97	6	20%	1.22	0.0%	74.8%	54%	56%
Texas	\$3,639	\$3,764	\$7,417	0.49	3	100%	0.98	7.3%	47.8%	100%	44%
Vermont Act 62	\$7,050	\$7,036	\$13,754	0.51	2	100%	1.03	21.4%	68.8%	-	95%
West Virginia	\$9,898	\$11,197	\$10,698	0.93	min 3.0	7%	0.99	11.4%	68.0%	-	65%
Wisconsin 4K	\$5,999	\$6,457	\$9,233	0.65	2.5	N/A	1.30	0.8%	62.6%	62%	56%

Table 7. Data on state pre-K programs funded with the K-12 school funding formula, 2014-2015.

Pre-K data from Barnett et al. (2016).

K-12 spending data from U.S. Census Bureau (2016), SPED adjustment data adapted from Parrish et al. (2003) and U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (2016).

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Table 8. Share of four-year-olds at or below 150% federal poverty level compared to enrollment, as a share of cohort, of four-year-olds in state-funded, special education, and Head Start pre-K, 2015.

	Four-Year-Olds Enrollment			
	in Head Start, Special			
	Education , and State-Funded	Estimated Share of Four-Year		
	Pre-K, as a % of 4s	Old Population Below 150%		
	Population	Federal Poverty Level	Difference	Rank
Alabama	29%	39%	-10%	37
Alaska	23%	26%	-3%	26
Arizona	21%	38%	-17%	40
Arkansas	56%	41%	15%	15
California	31%	34%	-3%	28
Colorado	37%	25%	12%	18
Connecticut	34%	22%	12%	17
Delaware	13%	31%	-18%	43
District of Columbia	86%	37%	49%	3
Florida	85%	37%	48%	4
Coorgia	63%	37%	26%	10
Uouraii	15%	91%	6%	21
Idaha	1378	2178	-0 /8	51
Iuano Illinoio	419/	209/	110/	10
	41%	30%	100/	19
Indiana	15%	33%	-18%	42
lowa	68%	26%	42%	6
Kansas	35%	29%	6%	21
Kentucky	40%	37%	3%	25
Louisiana	45%	41%	4%	24
Maine	55%	29%	26%	11
Maryland	48%	21%	27%	9
Massachusetts	18%	23%	-5%	29
Michigan	40%	34%	6 %	22
Minnesota	14%	23%	-9%	36
Mississippi	38%	46%	- 8 %	35
Missouri	20%	31%	-11%	39
Montana				
Nebraska	39%	27%	12%	16
Nevada	14%	35%	-21%	44
New Hampshire				
New Jersev	40%	24%	16%	14
New Mexico	51%	42%	9%	20
Now Vork	64%	33%	31%	8
North Carolina	30%	3370	70/	33
North Dakota	3078	5178	-170	
Ohio	99 0⁄	390⁄	_10%	30
Ohlahama	22 70 990/	32.70	-10%	30
Ukianoma	00 %	30%	32%	۵ ۸1
Uregon	15%	32%	-17%	41
Pennsylvania	26%	29%	-3%	27
Rhode Island	21%	29%	-8%	34
South Carolina	56%	37%	19%	13
South Dakota				
Tennessee	33%	38%	-5%	30
Texas	57%	36%	21%	12
Utah				
Vermont	94%	24%	70%	1
Virginia	28%	24%	4%	23
Washington	20%	26%	- 6 %	32
West Virginia	72%	37%	35%	7
Wisconsin	72%	26%	46%	5
Wyoming				

Pre-K enrollment data from Barnett et al. (2016).

Data on poverty share retrieved from Annie E. Casey Kids Count Data Center (2016) at http://datacenter.kidscount.org/

 $data/tables/46-children-below-150-percent-poverty?loc=1 \\ \& loct=2 \\ \# detailed/2/2-52/false/573/any/327, 328 \\ \# data/tables/46-children-below-150-percent-poverty?loc=1 \\ \# data/tables/tab$

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Table 9 and Chart 1.	Average of real spendi	ing per pupil for pre-	K programs funded	with and without	K-12 school funding	g formula, inc	lexed 2005-
2006 = 100.							

											annualized	standard
	05-06	06-07	07-08	08-09	09-10	10-11	11-12	12-13	13-14	14-15	growth	deviation
SFF	100	102	104	110	120	118	121	122	124	129	2.8%	3.3%
All other	100	105	111	112	107	105	106	101	100	106	0.7%	4.3%

SFF = Average of School Funding Formula Pre-K Programs; All Other = Average of all non-SFF pre-K programs Barnett et al. (2016).

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.



Chart 2. Real spending per pupil for pre-K programs funded with and without K-12 school funding formula, indexed 2005-2006 = 100.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.



The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

		Median Pre-K Annual Salary	Ratio of Pre-K/K Annual
Program	Funding Mechanism	Adjusted for Relative Prices	Salary
Alabama	Discretionary Grant	\$30,673	0.56
Arizona Quality First Scholarships	Discretionary Grant	\$40,762	0.98
Arkansas	Discretionary Grant	Discretionary Grant \$46,423	
California	Discretionary Grant	\$34,657	0.61
Colorado	School Funding Formula	\$43,601	0.96 0.71 0.59
Connecticut School Readiness	Formula Grant	\$46,359	
Delaware	State Head Start Program	\$34,339	
District of Columbia	School Funding Formula \$47,349		1.07
Florida	Discretionary Grant	\$36,093	0.78
Georgia	Discretionary Grant	\$37,443	0.64
Illinois	Discretionary Grant	\$36,000	0.75
Kansas State Pre-K	Formula Grant	\$46,311	0.94
Maine	School Funding Formula	\$40,768	0.80
Michigan	Formula Grant	\$32,781	0.59
Nebraska	Formula Grant		0.99
New York	Formula Grant	\$43,036	0.83
Oregon	State Head Start Program	\$34,691	0.60
Pennsylvania Pre-K Counts	Discretionary Grant	\$35,943	0.69
South Carolina 4K	Formula Grant	\$53,083	0.94
South Carolina CDEP	Formula Grant	\$53,083	0.94
Vermont EEI	Discretionary Grant	\$39,152	0.74
Vermont Act 62	School Funding Formula	\$39,152	0.74
Washington	Discretionary Grant	\$33,140	0.62
Wisconsin 4K	School Funding Formula	\$43,531	0.83
Average	School Funding Formula Programs	\$42,880	0.88
Average	Other Programs	\$36,573	0.75
Median	School Funding Formula Programs	\$43,531	0.83
Median	Other Programs	\$36,047	0.71
	2-Tailed T-Test P-Value	0.08	0.10

Table 10. Pre-K teacher salaries for programs without salary parity policies – Estimating the impact of the school funding formula, 2015.

Salary data from U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2016) Occupational Employment Statistics for 2015, retrieved at http://www.bls.gov/oes/.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

		K-12 Spending per Pupil Total State Local Federal				State-Funded Pre-K Spending per Pupil			
ł	Alabama	¢0 215	\$4557	¢2.961	¢909	\$6.666	\$5.222	¢1 222	federal ¢0
	Alaska	\$0,313	\$10,100	\$2,001	\$090	\$6,000	\$5,333	\$1,333	\$0 \$0
	Arizona	\$13,027	\$10,100	\$2,121	\$1,017	\$2,412	\$2,412	\$0	\$0
	Arkansas	\$7,002	\$6,142	\$944	\$849	\$4,372	\$4,077	\$0 \$0	\$295
	California	\$7 788	\$4,283	\$2.679	\$826	\$5 441	\$4,694	\$12	\$734
	Colorado	\$8,090	\$3 519	\$3,972	\$607	\$3,827	\$2,506	\$1 321	\$0
	Connecticut	\$13,254	\$5,222	\$7,502	\$530	\$10,184	\$8,106	\$1,016	\$1.062
	Delaware	\$10.668	\$6.379	\$3.542	\$747	\$7.100	\$7.100	\$0	\$0
	Florida	\$5.276	\$2.116	\$2.527	\$628	\$2.304	\$2.304	\$0	\$0
	Georgia	\$7.482	\$3.292	\$3.434	\$756	\$3.880	\$3.880	\$0	\$0
	Hawaii	\$11,503	\$10,042	\$230	\$1,219	\$7,671	\$7,671	\$0	\$0
	Idaho	\$5,943	\$3,762	\$1,515	\$666	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
	Illinois	\$10,815	\$3,969	\$6,024	\$822	\$3,735	\$3,161	\$574	\$0
	Indiana	\$10,195	\$6,402	\$3,007	\$785	\$2,875	\$2,588	\$288	\$0
	Iowa	\$9,301	\$4,874	\$3,739	\$688	\$3,595	\$2,987	\$609	\$0
	Kansas	\$8,146	\$4,676	\$2,875	\$595	\$2,262	\$2,262	\$0	\$0
	Kentucky	\$7,416	\$4,071	\$2,499	\$845	\$7,679	\$3,835	\$1,019	\$2,825
	Louisiana	\$9,061	\$3,760	\$3,914	\$1,386	\$4,658	\$2,561	\$88	\$2,010
	Maine	\$11,501	\$4,555	\$6,142	\$805	\$5,966	\$2,732	\$3,234	\$0
	Maryland	\$10,369	\$4,593	\$5,174	\$601	\$8,247	\$3,572	\$4,675	\$0
	Massachusetts	\$13,184	\$5,274	\$7,277	\$633	\$3,847	\$1,140	\$0	\$2,706
	Michigan	\$10,096	\$5,805	\$3,392	\$899	\$6,447	\$6,447	\$0	\$0
	Minnesota	\$9,291	\$6,411	\$2,351	\$530	\$7,824	\$7,824	\$0	\$0
	Mississippi	\$7,928	\$3,980	\$2,767	\$1,181	\$3,762	\$1,778	\$1,985	\$0
	Missouri	\$9,562	\$4,016	\$4,704	\$841	\$3,211	\$3,211	\$0	\$0
	Montana	\$10,561	\$5,069	\$4,245	\$1,246	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
	Nebraska	\$11,073	\$3,621	\$6,556	\$897	\$5,711	\$2,759	\$588	\$2,364
	Nevada	\$7,257	\$4,579	\$2,017	\$660	\$3,424	\$2,388	\$0	\$1,036
	New Hampshire	\$13,583	\$4,632	\$8,204	\$747	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
	New Jersey	\$15,909	\$6,411	\$8,830	\$668	\$12,149	\$12,149	\$U ¢0	\$0
	New Mexico	\$8,154	\$5,675	\$1,427	\$1,052	\$4,722	\$3,996	\$U ¢0	\$726
	New TOPK	\$10,482	\$0,092	\$8,884	\$907 \$945	\$0,017	\$0,017	\$U \$646	\$U \$2546
	North Dakota	\$10.859	\$6396	\$2,245	\$1 108	\$7,793	\$4,001	\$040	\$2,340
	Ohio	\$10,037	\$4,298	\$5,555	\$764	\$4,000	\$4,000	\$0 \$0	\$0 \$0
	Oklahoma	\$7 982	\$3,951	\$3,123	\$910	\$7 782	\$3,709	\$3 177	\$896
	Oregon	\$9,888	\$5,102	\$3,995	\$781	\$8.648	\$8.648	\$0	\$0
	Pennsvlvania	\$11.476	\$4.269	\$6.461	\$757	\$5.630	\$5.630	\$0	\$0
	Rhode Island	\$13.436	\$5.092	\$7.256	\$1.088	\$9.641	\$9.641	\$0	\$0
	South Carolina	\$8,122	\$3,769	\$3,565	\$788	\$3,574	\$1,981	\$1,591	\$3
	South Dakota	\$8,491	\$2,615	\$4,695	\$1,180	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
	Tennessee	\$6,509	\$3,046	\$2,688	\$775	\$6,687	\$5,219	\$1,468	\$0
	Texas	\$7,417	\$2,892	\$3,731	\$794	\$3,639	\$3,584	\$0	\$56
	Utah	\$6,041	\$3,244	\$2,265	\$532	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
	Vermont	\$13,754	\$12,296	\$619	\$839	\$6,589	\$6,589	\$0	\$0
	Virginia	\$9,225	\$3,662	\$4,945	\$618	\$5,887	\$3,742	\$2,145	\$0
	Washington	\$9,064	\$5,484	\$2,855	\$725	\$8,232	\$7,599	\$0	\$633
	West Virginia	\$10,698	\$6,215	\$3,413	\$1,070	\$9,898	\$6,071	\$101	\$3,726
	Wisconsin	\$9,233	\$4,792	\$3,749	\$693	\$6,018	\$3,802	\$2,216	\$0
	Wyoming	\$13,386	\$7,295	\$5,234	\$857	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
1	D.C.	\$21.764	\$19.566	N/A	\$2.198	\$17.509	\$16.431	N/A	\$1.078

Table 11a. Spending per pupil for state-funded pre-K and K-12. Both the pre-K and K-12 spending levels are broken down into their federal, state, and local funding sources, 2014.

K-12 spending per pupil data adapted from U.S. Census Bureau (2016).

Pre-K spending per pupil and enrollment data from Barnett et al. (2016).

State and local government expenditure data, in Table 11d, is Direct Expenditure data reported by U.S. Census Bureau,

Department of Commerce (2016), in the 2013 State & Local Government database.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Difference in Spending K-12 - Pre-K						
	Total	State	Local	Federal		
Alabama	\$1.650	\$776	¢1 527	\$909		
Alaska	\$8,760	\$3,830	\$3,127	\$1,819		
Arizona	\$2,660	\$5,050	\$2,121	\$942		
Arkansas	\$3,005	¢2.065	\$3,421 ¢044	\$742 \$551		
California	\$3,303 \$2,247	\$2,005 ¢111	۵۶ ۲۲ ¢2 667	\$334 ¢02		
Colorado	\$4,541 \$1,262	-9411 ¢1 012	\$2,007 ¢2.651	ወንሪ ድርበን		
Connecticut	<u>ቅ</u> ዓ,202 ¢2.070	\$1,013 \$1,013	\$2,001 ¢6 405	ወር/ 4521		
Deleviene	\$3,070 \$3,070	-\$2,004 \$721	\$0,400 ¢2 E42	-\$331 \$747		
Elorido	\$3,500 \$2,072	-\$/41 #100	\$3,342 ¢2 527	\$/4/ ¢(20		
Floriua	\$2,972 \$2,600	-\$107	\$2,527	\$020 \$756		
Georgia	\$3,602	-\$588 #2.271	\$3,434	\$/50		
Hawan	\$3,831	\$2,371	\$230	\$1,219		
	\$5,943	\$3,762	\$1,515	\$666		
	\$7,080	\$808	\$5,450	\$822		
Indiana	\$7,320	\$3,815	\$2,720	\$785		
Iowa	\$5,706	\$1,887	\$3,131	\$688		
Kansas	\$5,884	\$2,414	\$2,875	\$595		
Kentucky	-\$263	\$237	\$1,480	-\$1,980		
Louisiana	\$4,403	\$1,200	\$3,827	-\$623		
Maine	\$5,535	\$1,823	\$2,908	\$805		
Maryland	\$2,121	\$1,021	\$499	\$601		
Massachusetts	\$9,337	\$4,133	\$7,277	-\$2,074		
Michigan	\$3,649	-\$642	\$3,392	\$899		
Minnesota	\$1,467	-\$1,413	\$2,351	\$530		
Mississippi	\$4,166	\$2,202	\$782	\$1,181		
Missouri	\$6,350	\$804	\$4,704	\$841		
Montana	\$10,561	\$5,069	\$4,245	\$1,246		
Nebraska	\$5,362	\$862	\$5,968	-\$1,468		
Nevada	\$3,833	\$2,191	\$2,017	-\$375		
New Hampshire	\$13,583	\$4,632	\$8,204	\$747		
New Jersey	\$3,760	-\$5,737	\$8,830	\$668		
New Mexico	\$3,431	\$1,679	\$1,427	\$325		
New York	\$9,866	\$75	\$8,884	\$907		
North Carolina	-\$384	-\$281	\$1,599	-\$1,701		
North Dakota	\$10,859	\$6,396	\$3,355	\$1,108		
Ohio	\$6,185	\$298	\$5,123	\$764		
Oklahoma	\$200	\$241	-\$56	\$14		
Oregon	\$1,240	-\$3,546	\$3,995	\$781		
Pennsylvania	\$5,846	-\$1,361	\$6,461	\$757		
Rhode Island	\$3,796	-\$4,548	\$7,256	\$1,088		
South Carolina	\$4,548	\$1,788	\$1,975	\$785		
South Dakota	\$8,491	\$2,615	\$4,695	\$1,180		
Tennessee	-\$178	-\$2,173	\$1,221	\$775		
Texas	\$3,777	-\$691	\$3,731	\$738		
Utah	\$6.041	\$3.244	\$2.265	\$532		
Vermont	\$7,166	\$5,708	\$619	\$839		
Virginia	\$3.338	-\$80	\$2.800	\$618		
Washington	\$833	-\$2.115	\$2.855	\$92		
West Virginia	\$799	\$145	\$3.311	-\$2.657		
Wisconsin	\$3,216	\$990	\$1 533	\$693		
Wyoming	\$13,386	\$7.295	\$5,234	\$857		
D.C.	\$4,255	\$3,135	N/A	\$1,120		

Table 11b. Difference in spending per pupil, K-12 minus state-funded pre-K. Spending differences are broken down into their federal, state, and local funding sources, 2014.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

	Share of 4-Vr Old Population		Difforence	Lovel of 4 Vr. Old Penulation		
	Fnrollment in Pre-K	Target	Target-Enrollment	Fnrollment in Pre-K	Target-Fnrollment	
Alahama	12.0%	80.0%	68.0%	7 243	41 094	
Alaska	3.1%	80.0%	76.9%	319	7 983	
Arizona	5.5%	80.0%	74.5%	4 850	66 138	
Arkansas	38.5%	80.0%	41 5%	14 735	15 846	
California	17 5%	80.0%	62.5%	87 794	313 633	
Colorado	23.3%	80.0%	56.7%	15 913	38 736	
Connecticut	23.1%	80.0%	56.9%	8 976	22 176	
Delaware	7 5%	80.0%	72 5%	843	8 171	
Florida	76.5%	80.0%	3 5%	166 522	7 663	
Georgia	58.8%	80.0%	21.2%	80.430	29.054	
Hawaii	2.1%	80.0%	77.9%	365	13 596	
Idaho	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	23 154	
Illinois	27.0%	80.0%	53.0%	43 387	84.943	
Indiana	0.5%	80.0%	79.5%	415	67 587	
Iowa	61.1%	80.0%	18.9%	24 384	7 520	
Kansas	20.0%	80.0%	60.0%	8 134	24.326	
Kontucky	25.8%	80.0%	54.2%	14 229	29,961	
Louisiana	31.9%	80.0%	48 1%	19.732	29,738	
Louisiana	36.2%	80.0%	43.8%	17,732	5 703	
Maryland	36.0%	80.0%	43.870	26.631	32 549	
Massachusotte	7 20%	80.0%	72.8%	5 238	52,549	
Massachusetts	32.0%	80.0%	48.0%	37 112	55 592	
Minnesota	1.0%	80.0%	79.0%	735	55.431	
Mississippi	4 106	80.0%	75.0%	1.641	20,210	
Missouri	3 9%	80.0%	76.1%	2 961	57.675	
Montana	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	12 276	
Nebraska	30.5%	80.0%	49 5%	8 020	13 021	
Nevada	3.0%	80.0%	77.0%	1.085	28 243	
New Hampshire	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	13 195	
New Jersev	28.6%	80.0%	51.4%	30,703	55 202	
New Mexico	30.0%	80.0%	50.0%	8 397	13 990	
New York	48.7%	80.0%	31.3%	111 973	71 994	
North Carolina	21.5%	80.0%	58.5%	26 851	72,946	
North Dakota	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	9.681	
Ohio	4.8%	80.0%	75.2%	6.654	104.987	
Oklahoma	74.8%	80.0%	5.2%	40.085	2.776	
Oregon	10.0%	80.0%	70.0%	4.674	32.608	
Pennsylvania	12.0%	80.0%	68.0%	17.093	97.222	
Rhode Island	2.8%	80.0%	77.2%	306	8,434	
South Carolina	46.9%	80.0%	33.1%	28,102	19,878	
South Dakota	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	11.817	
Tennessee	19.3%	80.0%	60.7%	15.648	49.222	
Texas	47.8%	80.0%	32.2%	189,796	127,999	
Utah	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	51,220	
Vermont	83.9%	83.9%	0.0%	5,038	0	
Virginia	17.9%	80.0%	62.1%	18,250	63,291	
Washington	8.0%	80.0%	72.0%	7,128	64,314	
West Virginia	68.0%	80.0%	12.0%	13,779	2,438	
Wisconsin	63.7%	80.0%	16.3%	44,364	11,338	
Wyoming	0.0%	80.0%	80.0%	0	7,813	
D.C.	86.3%	86.3%	0.0%	6,637	0	

Table 11c. Estimate for change in enrollment under universal pre-K coverage, by state, 2014.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

	Additional Exp	Additional Expenditure (Revenue) by Level of Government		Additional Expenditure as a Percentage of Expenditure by Level of Government		
	Total State Local		State Local			
Alahama	\$354	\$182	\$129	0.8%	0.6%	
Alaska	\$123	\$82	\$26	0.8%	0.5%	
Arizona	\$486	\$177	\$243	0.7%	0.9%	
Arkansas	\$178	\$128	\$29	0.9%	0.3%	
California	\$2.649	\$1 307	\$1.074	0.7%	0.5%	
Colorado	\$381	\$152	\$196	0.7%	0.7%	
Connecticut	\$321	\$90	\$225	0.4%	1 3%	
Delaware	\$90	\$52	\$32	0.7%	1.0%	
Florida	\$535	-\$15	\$440	0.0%	0.5%	
Georgia	\$507	\$48	\$376	0.1%	0.9%	
Hawaii	\$158	\$137	\$3	1.2%	0.1%	
Idaho	\$138	\$87	\$35	1.2%	0.7%	
Illinois	\$1 226	\$372	\$748	0.6%	1.0%	
Indiana	\$692	\$434	\$204	1.6%	0.8%	
Indiana	\$209	\$83	\$204	0.5%	0.0%	
Kansas	\$209	\$03	\$104	1 106	0.7%	
Kontucky	\$240	\$135	\$95	0.5%	0.7%	
Louisiana	\$210	\$125	\$90 ¢102	0.5%	0.7%	
Louisialia	\$330 ¢02	\$130 ¢2E	\$192	0.5%	1 104	
Mamland	\$95	\$33 \$177	\$5U ¢102	0.5%	0.604	
Massachusette	\$394	\$1/7	\$102	0.0%	1 204	
Massachusetts	\$/44	\$300	\$422	0.0%	0.70/	
Michigan	\$697	\$299	\$314	0.7%	0.7%	
Minnesota	\$516	\$354	\$132 ¢05	1.3%	0.4%	
Mississippi	\$246	\$124	\$85 ¢205	0.8%	0.7%	
Missouri	\$570	\$234	\$285	0.9%	1.1%	
Montana	\$130	\$62	\$52	1.1%	1.4%	
Nebraska	\$187	\$54	\$133	0.7%	1.0%	
	\$209	\$132	\$59	1.5%	0.5%	
New Hampshire	\$1/9	\$61	\$108	1.0%	2.0%	
New Jersey	\$994	\$178	\$759	0.3%	1.6%	
New Mexico	\$143	\$93	\$32	0.7%	0.4%	
New York	\$2,291	\$490	\$1,634	0.4%	0.9%	
North Carolina	\$530	\$308	\$207	0.8%	0.5%	
North Dakota	\$105	\$62	\$32	1.3%	0.9%	
Ohio	\$1,110	\$453	\$572	0.8%	1.1%	
Oklahoma	\$30	\$21	\$6	0.1%	0.0%	
Oregon	\$328	\$150	\$149	0.7%	0.8%	
Pennsylvania	\$1,216	\$392	\$739	0.6%	1.2%	
Rhode Island	\$114	\$42	\$63	0.6%	1.4%	
South Carolina	\$289	\$125	\$126	0.5%	0.6%	
South Dakota	\$100	\$31	\$55	0.8%	1.6%	
Tennessee	\$318	\$116	\$151	0.5%	0.5%	
Texas	\$1,666	\$239	\$1,186	0.2%	0.9%	
Utah	\$309	\$166	\$116	1.2%	1.0%	
Vermont	\$36	\$29	\$3	0.6%	0.1%	
Virginia	\$645	\$230	\$364	0.6%	1.0%	
Washington	\$589	\$338	\$204	0.9%	0.5%	
West Virginia	\$37	\$17	\$54	0.2%	0.9%	
Wisconsin	\$247	\$98	\$110	0.4%	0.4%	
Wyoming	\$105	\$57	\$41	1.4%	0.9%	
D.C.	\$28	\$21	N/A	0.1%	N/A	

Table 11d. Estimates for additional expenditures generated by K-12 formula applied to universal pre-K at age 4 for a full school day, by state 2014.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

References

- Allen, L., & Kelly, B. B. (Eds.). (2015). *Transforming the Workforce for Children Birth Through Age 8: A Unifying Foundation*. National Academies Press.
- Annie E. Casey Foundation Kids Count Data Center. (2016). [Data file]. Retrieved at <u>http://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/46-children-below-150-percent</u>-poverty?loc=1&loct=2#detailed/2/2-52/false/573/any/327,328.
- Baker, B., & Welner, K. (2011). School finance and courts: Does reform matter, and how can we tell. *Teachers College Record*, *113*(11), 2374-2414.
- Barnett, W. S., Friedman-Krauss, A. H., Gomez, R. E., Horowitz, M., Weisenfeld, G. G., & Squires, J. H. (2016). *The state of preschool 2015: State preschool yearbook*. New Brunswick, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research.
- Barnett, W.S. & Hustedt, J.T. (2011). Public financing for early learning programs. Preschool Policy Brief, 23. New Brunswick, NJ: NIEER.
- Early Learning and Child Care: Federal Funds Support with Multiple Programs with Similar Goals, 16 (2014) (testimony of Kay E. Brown).
- Fazekas, M. (2012). School Funding Formulas: Review of Main Characteristics and Impacts. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 74. Retrieved December 4, 2016 from <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED532029.pdf</u>
- Fullerton, D., & Metcalf, G. E. (2002). Tax incidence. *Handbook of Public Economics*, 4, 1787-1872.
- Gronberg, T. J., Jansen, D. W., & Taylor, L. L. (2011). The adequacy of educational cost functions: Lessons from Texas. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 86(1), 3-27.
- Hall-Kenyon, K. M., Bullough, R. V., MacKay, K. L., & Marshall, E. E. (2014). Preschool teacher well-being: A review of the literature. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 42(3), 153-162.
- Hanushek, E. A., & Lindseth, A. A. (2009). Schoolhouses, courthouses, and statehouses: Solving the funding-achievement puzzle in America's public schools. Princeton University Press.
- Lafortune, J., Rothstein, J., & Schanzenbach, D. W. (2016). *School finance reform and the distribution of student achievement* (Working paper No. 22011). National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved December 4, 2016 from http://eml.berkeley.edu/~jrothst/workingpapers/LRS schoolfinance feb2016.pdf
- Oates, W. E., & Fischel, W. A. (2016). Are local property taxes regressive, progressive, or what?. *National Tax Journal*, 69(2), 415.
- Parrish, T. B., & Chambers, J. G. (1996). *Financing special education. The Future of Children: Special Education for Students with Disabilities*, 6(1), 121–138.
- Parrish, T., Harr, J., Anthony, J., Merickel, A., & Esra, P. (2003). State Special Education Finance Systems, 1999-2000. Part II: Special education revenues and expenditures. American Institutes for Research.
- Picus, L. O., Goertz, M., & Odden, A. (2015). Intergovernmental aid formulas and case studies. In H. F. Ladd and M. E. Goertz (eds.) *Handbook of research in Education finance and Policy* (2nd ed.) (pp. 279-296). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Sciarra, D. G., & Hunter, M. A. (2015). Resource accountability: Enforcing state responsibilities for sufficient and equitable resources used effectively to provide all students a quality education. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 23(21), n21.
- U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2016). Regional Economic Accounts Annual State Personal Income and Employment [Data file]. Retrieved from http://www.bea.gov/regional/index.htm.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

- U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2016). Real Personal Income from states and Metropolitan Areas, 2014. Table 3. Regional Price Parities by State, 2014. Washington, DC: Bureau of Economic Analysis.
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2016). Occupational Employment Statistics [Data file]. Retrieved at <u>http://www.bls.gov/oes/</u>.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. (2016). 2013 State and Local Government Finance [Data file]. Retrieved at <u>http://www.census.gov/govs/local/</u>.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. (2015). Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates [Data file]. Retrieved at <u>https://www.census.gov/did/www/saipe/index.html</u>.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. (2016). Public Education Finances: 2014. Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. (2015). The Current Population Survey October 2015: School Enrollment Supplement. Table 3. Nursery and Primary School Enrollment of People 3 to 6 Years Old, by Control of School, Attendance Status, Age, Race, Hispanic Origin, Mother's Labor Force Status and Education, and Family Income. Washington, DC: Bureau of the Census.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). Department of Education FY2017 budget tables [Data file]. Retrieved from <u>http://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget17/17action.pdf</u>
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (2016). Table 235.20. Revenues of public elementary and secondary schools by source of funds and state or jurisdiction: 2013-14. *Digest of Education Statistics*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights. (2016). Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC) for the 2013-14 School Year [Data file]. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-2013-14.html.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, Office of Special Education Programs. (2015). *37th Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities* Education Act. Washington, D.C.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Community Services. (2016). Social Services Block Grant Program Annual Report 2014. Retrieved from <u>http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ocs/programs/ssbg</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Family Assistance. (2016). HHS FY 2017 Budget in Brief - ACF - Mandatory [Data file]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.hhs.gov/about/budget/fy2017/budget-in</u>brief/acf/mandatory/index.html.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Head Start. (2016). Office of Head Start - Program Information Report (PIR) PIR Indicator Report - 2016 - National Level. Retrieved from https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/hslc/data/pir.
- United States., & United States. (1969). Catalog of federal domestic assistance. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget.
- Verstegen, D. A. (2011). Public education finance systems in the United States and funding policies for populations with special educational needs. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 19(21), n21.
- Verstegen, D.A. (2014). How Do States Pay for Schools? An Update of a 50-State Survey of Finance Policies and Programs. Paper presented at the Association for Education Finance and Policy Annual Conference San Antonio, Texas March 15, 2014. Retrieved December 4, 2016 from <u>https://schoolfinancesdav.files.wordpress.com/2014/04/aefp-50-</u> stateaidsystems.pdf

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.

Verstegen, D. A. (2015). A quick glance at school finance: A 50 state survey of school finance policies (2015). Retrieved from <u>https://schoolfinancesdav.wordpress.com/</u>.

The authors are responsible for the content of this article, which does not necessarily represent the views of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.